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Wednesday, July 6, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, everybody, and welcome to the technical conference in Ontario Energy Board File No. EB-2015-0072 in the matter of an application for electricity distribution rates by Grimsby Power Inc.

My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic, and I am legal counsel for Ontario Energy Board Staff.  This technical conference is convened pursuant to the OEB Procedural Order No. 2 in this matter, which was issued on June 27.  It provided for, among other things, a technical conference to deal with additional evidence filed by Grimsby Power regarding PILS, payments in lieu of taxes.

PO No. 2 required Grimsby Power to file additional evidence by June 29th, which was done on June 30th.  And that evidence consists of a review by KPMG titled "Review of rate-setting implications of tax losses carried forward", and we'd like's like to make that an exhibit.  That'll be Exhibit KT1.1, and I trust everybody has received that. 
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  REVIEW BY KPMG TITLED "REVIEW OF RATE-SETTING IMPLICATIONS OF TAX LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD".

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  In addition to the KPMG review filed on June 30th, Grimsby also filed a revised revenue requirement work form, v.6, which we'll mark as Exhibit KT1.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  REVISED REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM, V.6.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And also on June 30th Grimsby filed its materials for oral hearing in response to questions posed by Energy Probe, and some of those materials deal with the PILS issue that is the focus of today's conference, so I think it would be appropriate to make that an exhibit as well, and that would be Exhibit KT1.3:
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  MATERIALS FOR ORAL HEARING IN RESPONSE TO QUESTIONS POSED BY ENERGY PROBE.
Appearances:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I will now ask for appearances.  I'm Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for Board Staff, and with me are Raj Sabharawal, and -- behalf of Board Staff, and Ceiran Bishop, also on behalf of Board Staff, and Martha McOuat on behalf of Board Staff.

Could we start with the -- back there, sorry, go ahead.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Good morning, Ms. Djurdjevic.  My name is James Sidlofsky, counsel for Grimsby Power.  I'll introduce the Grimsby witness panel maybe after the appearances.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Michael Janigan, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. STOLL:  Good morning.  Scott Stoll for Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for Energy Probe.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Mr. Sidlofsky, did you want to introduce your panel?
GRIMSBY POWER INC. - PANEL 1

Doug Curtiss

Mioara Domokos

Michel Picard

Amy La Selva


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  From my far left, we have Doug Curtiss, chief executive officer, Grimsby Power; Mioara Domokos, finance director for Grimsby; Michel Picard, a partner with KPMG and the author of the report that was filed as part of Grimsby's evidence update; and finally, Amy La Selva, finance regulatory analyst for Grimsby Power.

I should note that the evidence update was filed electronically on June 29th.  I believe paper copies would have been delivered on the 30th, but that was -- the material was filed on RESS on June 29th.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you for the clarification.

Are there any other documents that we need to mark as exhibits, other than what's already filed on the record of the proceeding?  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you marked the KPMG report and the revenue requirement work form, did I understand,  as K --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, and then the third one was Energy -- response to Energy Probe questions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding, there was also an updated PILS model that was filed?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Let's -- sorry, just going by what we had in the e-mails that went out late last week, so I guess we'll make that Exhibit KT1.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.4:  UPDATED PILS MODEL.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Any other matters, or -- procedural, documentary, administrative?

Okay.  So how would -- among the intervenors, any particular -- well, first of all, Mr. Sidlofsky, do you -- are you going to present the evidence, the material that was filed, before we enter questions?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, the update has been made available to the parties.  I think the panel is simply available to respond to questions on that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, so Mr. Aiken, Mr. Rubenstein, other gentlemen, any particular order you'd like to go in?  All right, Mr. Aiken.

MR. AIKEN:  I'll go first.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Behind the post.
Examination by Mr. Aiken:

MR. AIKEN:  Most of my questions are going to be looking at the comparison of the PILS work form filed as part of the settlement proposal and filed as part of the update last week.  So Martha, I don't know if you can bring both of those up.

MS. McOUAT:^  I think so.  Well, wait.  Do I have -- we don't have the updated PILS model on the website.

MR. AIKEN:  That's going to be a problem.

MS. McOUAT:  That's a problem.  That's a problem.  Well, can we pull up the one...  I'm going to have to pull it out of an e-mail.  It's going to take me a minute to do.  Sorry.  Amy?

MS. LA SELVA:  Yes.

MS. McOUAT:  Do you want to put your -- have you got a stick with you?  Do you want to put it on a stick and I'll stick it on here?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Djurdjevic, maybe we could go off the record while we're clearing this up.  Thanks.

--- Off-the-record discussion.

MS. McOUAT:   Apologies, go back on.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  We have got the PILS work form, which is Exhibit K21.4.  And, Mr. Aiken, I believe you're up.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and what I want to do is go through and compare the changes that were made in the update from the settlement proposal, and I'm starting on schedule 8 for the historical year in both schedules -- in both the work forms, rather -- and I'm trying to figure out or track the changes and the cause for the changes.

So starting with -- and schedule 8 is the capital cost allowance schedule.  In class 1, the number had gone from about 12.4 million down to 7.9 million, a reduction of four and a half million.  I take it that's because the Niagara West should not have been included in the 2014 capital cost allowance; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So at the end of 2014, NWTC was not part of Grimsby Power; that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, then when you go down to CCA class 47, it's gone from 7.7 million in the settlement proposal to 10.2 million.  It's an increase of about two and a half.

What is driving that increase?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I don't have right now an answer.  I have to check.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide a response?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO EXPLAIN THE INCREASE IN CCA CLASS 47

MR. AIKEN:  And then similarly, CCA class 6 building; it's gone from about 22,000 to nothing.  Now, is that -- is that a building related to Niagara West, or is that something else?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, it is related to Niagara West.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if you take it, subject to check, that the UCC based on the updated filing is about $2 million less than it was in the settlement proposal, and given that the Niagara West additions that show up in the CCA schedule for 2015 are about 4.4 million, can you explain that difference?  Or would that be part of your first undertaking?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And I take it that even though the UCC is down by about 2 million, there was no change in the CCA claimed in 2014.  Is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I don't have the numbers in front of me.  Yes, add it to the undertaking; I don't know.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you then undertake to confirm that there is no change, but if there is a change, explain the change in the CCA for the historical year?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO CONFIRM THAT THERE IS NO CHANGE, BUT IF THERE IS A CHANGE, EXPLAIN THE CHANGE IN THE CCA FOR THE HISTORICAL YEAR

MR. AIKEN:  Now, with respect to the 2014 loss of GPI excluding Niagara West, am I correct that the loss in 2014 was $1,190,808?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So, in -- when -- sorry, it was 1 million?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, you had a loss of for Grimsby Power in 2014 of $1,190,808.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So that was on December 31st, 2014, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and then of that amount, you carried back, for 2012 and 2013, a total of $955,881?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  And that leaves the 234,927 that shows up in --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Schedule 4.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and it is also in your non-capital loss continuity work chart as part of your PILS filing, correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then on top of that, the tax loss for Niagara West was $737,382, and I get that from Appendix C of the KPMG report.  Is that's correct?  That was the total of the first two lines you see there under NWTC.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and then that evidence also indicates that approximately $206,000 of that loss has expired.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is:  When was that loss incurred?

MS. DOMOKOS:  In 2006, if I recall correctly -- sorry, 2005.  Sorry.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so it was in 2005.  And what are the rules under which that has now expired?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry?

MR. AIKEN:  What are the Canada Revenue Agency rules that indicate that that has now expired, and you can't use that in the future?  I know they've changed the number of years.

MS. DOMOKOS:  When the corporate taxes were done on September the 30th for NWTC, it was when we found that it expired and they dropped from the loss carry forward, so are part of the tax return of NWTC on September the 30th.

MR. AIKEN:  Is it because that loss carry forward could only be carried forward for up to ten years?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and my understanding is that for losses after that, the losses can be carried forward up to 20 years now?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, the rule is changed, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Did Niagara West Transformation Corporation claim the full capital cost allowance, or any portion thereof, to create or increase the losses they'd had each year that are shown in their non-capital loss continuity work chart?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I have to find out.  I was not the -- I didn't keep the NWTC books, so I have to check exactly how the taxes were done for NWTC.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Do you want me to make that an undertaking, Mr. Aiken?

MR. AIKEN:  Just a minute, please.


Mr. Picard, did you review the NWTC tax filings, the historical ones?


MR. PICARD:  As far as the amount of tax losses was available, yes, but I didn't redo the calculation for the CCA...


[Microphone not activated]


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


MR. PICARD:  I said I did review the tax filings, but just to identify the tax losses carried forward and from which years they were relating to.


MR. AIKEN:  Then --


MR. PICARD:  So I didn't review the CCA calculation.


MR. AIKEN:   Then I think the way to deal with this is to have an undertaking to file the tax filings from 2015 through to their last tax filing, which I guess would be September 30th, 2015 -- or 2005 to 2015.  Would you undertake to do that?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So from 2005 to 2015, you would like to check if the CCA was included?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I want to check the calculations to see what CCA was used, if it was used, in the calculation of the tax losses.


MR. AIKEN:  Do we have an undertaking for that?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be JT1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO FILE THE TAX FILINGS FROM 2015 THROUGH TO THEIR LAST TAX FILING, SEPTEMBER 30TH, 2005 TO 2015.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now I'm moving on -- I'm back in the PILS work forms, the same two work forms, but now I'm comparing three different sheets -- or trying to compare three different sheets at the same time, and they are Schedule 8, CCA for the bridge year.


So we have the original one from the settlement proposal, and then we have two in the bridge -- for the bridge year, based on the nine-month filing and then the three-month filing after the merger.


My first question deals with the total additions shown in the bridge year in the settlement proposal.  That amount is 1,296,757, and that matches your actual capital additions in the bridge year.


But when I look at the nine-month version in the update, I see a total of 1,134,676, and when I add that to the additions in the three-month post-merger period, I see another 1,478,639.  So those two numbers add up to about a little over 2.6 million.  And those exclude the NWTC transfers, because that's in a separate column.


Now, aside from the upgrade to the Niagara West transformation station, which I believe is about 1.3 million, what other changes to the total have been made?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So in the regulatory model when you have a contribute (sic) capital, that is deducted from the addition, so it is 1.2-something million -- the addition to the station that were made in -- from October the 1st to December 31st.  And that was 100 percent contribute capital.


So in the regulatory model you have a deduction, you add 1.2, but you deduct the 1.2, while in the tax we don't deduct the contribute capital.  It is staying like addition only.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I guess we are going to have to go through this line by line then.  So looking at the settlement version, Class 1, there are no additions for distribution system post-1987.  In the update that is for the nine months, there is a figure of 45,000, and in the update for the three months, there is a figure of 1,218,000.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, so that addition of 1.218, 1,218,270, it's the half wing that, it was added to the station, and when you are doing the corporate tax it's only an addition.  When you are doing a regulatory model it's a plus and a minus, and it's washing out, because it is a contribute capital.  It was not Grimsby Power money.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, tell me where it washes out in the CCA, because the CCA calculation includes that amount.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, it is how the tax were done, but our audit or so in the corporate tax calculation, it's not deduction, it is only the addition, because the contribute capital is part in deferred revenue we are doing the depreciation and all that.  So it is kept separate, then it is in the regulatory model.


I understand all of that.  My question is:  Why has there been such a significant change between your update, which now has additions of 2.6 million to capital, versus the settlement agreement, which had 1.296 million?


MS. DOMOKOS:  The difference is this half wing addition.  It is what I am trying to tell you.  So when we did initial we followed the regulatory model, which 1.218270, it's washing out, so it's no addition from the regulatory point of view because it is a contribute capital.  But when we did the tax return, that, it's an addition in our fixed assets.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Well, would you undertake to reconcile the difference between the sum of the additions shown in the bridge year nine-year and bridge year three-year with the 1.296 million shown in the settlement proposal?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we have that undertaking?


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, yes, that will be Undertaking JT1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO RECONCILE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE SUM OF THE ADDITIONS SHOWN IN THE BRIDGE YEAR NINE-MONTH AND BRIDGE YEAR THREE-MONTH WITH THE 1.296-MILLION SHOWN IN THE SETTLEMENT PROPOSAL.


MR. AIKEN:  And as part of that would you indicate or explain the differences between the totals in each of the CCA classes where there are differences.  And by my notes that means that there's differences in Classes 1, 2, 12, and 47 that would contribute to that overall total difference.


Now, with respect to the --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Aiken, I don't really want to interrupt you, but that was the CCA bridge year, nine months and three months?


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think you had said years.  I just wanted to make sure we were clear on that.


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.


MS. DOMOKOS:  May I mention something, please, about Class 12, the software?  That is in the CCA class one year, so it cannot apply the half-year rule the way that it's in the PILS model.


In the PILS model, the way that it's working, the regulatory model, it's taking half for that first year, so in the real life it's 100 percent and it's all depreciate from the CCA point of view in the first year.


MR. AIKEN:  That's not the question.  The question is, why -- specific to Class 12, why are the numbers different?


MS. DOMOKOS:  The numbers are different because you are taking the end of nine months and then you go to the next three months fiscal year.  So if it was completely depreciate in the first nine months, something is changing the calculation, but we will explain in our undertaking --


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah, that doesn't explain the additions change.


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So my next question on that for the bridge year -- and this is for both the nine-month and the three-month period -- why are you adding the 1.218 million and the $45,000 into CCA Class 1, rather than 47?


MS. DOMOKOS:  So it is how our auditors decided at the beginning of the station in 2004 to put in that class, and it is kept that way since then.


MR. AIKEN:  But this is a new capital expenditure you did in 2015.


MS. DOMOKOS:  But belongs to that transformation station, and if they decided in that time to be everything what belongs to that station in that class, it is how they decided, and we keep that way.


MR. AIKEN:  But you agree it is a new distribution asset, it is a new addition to a distribution asset now.  And all the other distribution assets are in Class 47, which is post-February 2005, I believe.  Do you agree?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I have to check with the auditors why they decided that way.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  We'll do that by way of an undertaking?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, please.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  JT1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO CONFIRM THE CLASS FOR THE DISTRIBUTION ASSETS.


MR. AIKEN:  Now I'm moving on to the adjusted taxable income for the bridge year settlement versus update, and again I'm going to go through line by line, asking you about the differences between the settlement proposal and the update. 

 I'm starting at the very top where the column labeled "T2S1” line number says A -- no, the bridge year, Martha.

MS. McOUAT:  Sorry.  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so the income before PILS as part of the settlement proposal was 195,848 and, as part of the update, this that has now increased to 235,836 -- and if I get the 8s and 6s mixed up, it is because the print is so damned small.

 And if you also turn up the response to the materials that I asked for the hearing -- I think it is KT1.3 and table number 1 of the PILS questions -- that will help as well, because my understanding on your update for the bridge year, the 235,836, which is the new income before PILS, and down near the bottom of that first sheet, there is provision for income taxes current and deferred.  The numbers are 48,209 and 128,168, and when you add them together you get the $412,213 shown on table 1 that Martha is just about to show us.

MS. McOUAT:  Okay, what page am I on?

MR. AIKEN:  Right there.

MS. McOUAT:  Right there?  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  So my question really is: Based on table 1, what is the difference between the 412,213 and the 195,848?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So I explain in my answer, my response to you, the 39,988.  So down you can see the difference between regulated and a tax return, and if you -- so that will take up the $39,988, the difference.

 So if you add back the current tax and the future tax, you will get the difference of 216,365.  So on the bottom of my sheet, I put all the differences that are between the regulated and the tax return. 

So we have the deferred revenue; it's the depreciation for the contributory capital and IFRS, we have to put under revenue.  On the regulated model, it is in the depreciation expense.  Then it is the difference between deemed interest and interest expense.

Then in the regulated model, we are not allowed to put other donation, and it is the gain for the fair value of interest of the swap agreement, so that it's a gain.

MR. AIKEN:  And all of those items that are shown there at the bottom that add up to the 39,988 --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- those are all items that are not included in the PILS regulatory model?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and similarly, the current tax and the future tax, they are not included in the PILS regulatory model?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So it is all difference between actual and regulatory model?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So then going back to the adjusted taxable income, the next difference I see between the settlement and the update is in the line called "Reserves from financial statements balance at the end of the year"; it's line 126.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So --


MR. AIKEN:  So the 752,846 --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay --


MR. AIKEN:  And before it was 6,500.  And then I matched that with line 414, which in the settlement was a deduction of 6,500, and now it's he a deduction of 679,397. 

So the net impact is an increase of about 70,000, and I take it that is because you have updated for your actual numbers; is that correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So if you are doing the difference between line 126 and line 414, you are correct.  You are getting 73,449, and this is the changing during the year that are eliminated in the tax calculation, as it is a disallowed income for the tax proposed.

So if you will add 125 plus 126, it will be equal with the summary of 413 plus 440.  With other words, in the tax return, this kind of difference in the reserve, it's disallowed and it is eliminated.  So the 73,449 is eliminated.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, I think we'll come back to that later.

The next difference on your update is labelled as "392", which is a line number that doesn't exist in the settlement -- or sorry, it does, but there was no number in it, and this is where you've added in the 738,802.

So this is your opening regulatory asset balance, correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And that's partially offset by the 54,946 in the closing regulatory asset balance as a deduction --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- whereas before the settlement proposal, both of those were zeros?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Then the only other change, I take it, from the settlement to the update for the bridge year is line 403.  That's the capital cost allowance, where there is an increase of -- an increase from 1.323 million to 1.39 million.

I take it that's because of the CCA changes we talked about for 2014 and 2015?

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is part of the fact that in the tax return, we don't deduct the contributory capital from the total assets addition.  So if you will do the calculation for the contributory capital in that fiscal year, that -- and add back to the assets, then you will get what is in the tax return.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, your updated PILS CCA and what you filed in your 2015 tax returns match one another.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, it's matching the model that I update match my tax return, that is correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, and so the increase in the capital cost allowance in 2015 is because of the changes that you made to 2014, where you now have a lower opening balance, but higher additions in 2015?

MS. DOMOKOS:  In 2015 in my tax return, the capital contribution it's not deducted when it's calculated CCA, in my tax return.

In the regulatory model, it's deducted.  So if I have 1.2 million fixed assets addition, and they are contribute capital, it will not show up at all in the CCA calculation and the regulatory model as an addition at all, because it is 1.2 million, my fixed assets addition, and 1.2 million is the contribute capital addition.  So --


MR. AIKEN:  I'm not talking about fixed assets, I'm talking about capital cost allowance.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, so --


MR. AIKEN:  And it does show up in the regulatory model.

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, if it is the same amount --


MR. AIKEN:  Are you going to refile your PILS worksheet?  Because obviously it is wrong, because it does show up in there.  That's what we just spent five minutes going over, the 1.2 million you've added into CCA Class 1 that wasn't there before.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, so in the tax return it will show up.  In the regulatory model will be zero.

MR. AIKEN:  But this -- in the PILS work form you filed, it shows up.  It's not zero.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, because is my tax return.  It's --


MR. AIKEN:  No, I'm talking about Schedule 8 in the PILS work form.  It's your update for the three months.  See that, under "additions"?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Well, this is your PILS work form.  You just said it doesn't show up here.  It does.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, but what I tried to do when I did this model, I tried to show exactly what it's -- my tax return for 2015 to follow exactly the figures that I have in my 2015 tax return.

Initial when I did it was the way I let go the model to go the way that it's configurate (sic), but when I did this spreadsheet and I tried to separate nine months, three months, I follow exactly my tax return, my corporate tax return.

MR. AIKEN:  So let me ask you for your actual tax return.  You claim CCA on other people's money that's been invested?  In other words, if somebody paid an aid to construction, a contribution for 1.2 million, for an asset that cost 1.2 million, you're claiming CCA on it.

MS. DOMOKOS:  But on the other hand, I have in my -- for the amortization of the contribute capital I have a revenue right now under IFRS, so it is not any more the way that it was before deduction from the fixed assets.

So I have a revenue which will show up in my accounting income that amount, so it's exactly what it's on the bottom on the spreadsheet that I did a comparison.

If you are looking, I have 85,857 in 2015, the deferred revenue, so I have in my accounting income that amount.  For the regulatory point of view it's a deduction from the -- for IFRS accounting point of view it is a revenue.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, can you tell me where you show the 1.2 million showing up as revenue?  On what...

MS. DOMOKOS:  So right now I am talking about the spreadsheet that I did for actual -- the table, that it's right now on the screen, and on the bottom, if you are looking, the 85,857, that was the revenue generate from depreciation of my contribute capital, and it is how we have to book right now on the IFRS.

So it is not a deduction from the depreciation expense the way that it's on the regulatory model.  On the regulatory model if you have a contribute capital addition, you do a deduction from the fixed assets depreciation expense, you deduct the contribute capital depreciation.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is, where does the 1.2 million show up as revenue in this table?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So you ask me if that 1.2, it's taking in calculation.  What is taking in calculation when you are doing the CCA is the depreciation, the CCA calculation for that 1.2 million.

So in the regulatory model will not show up.  In the  -- my tax return real life it will show up 85 or however is the amount, but it's balance with the amounts that I have in the revenue from the deferred revenue, and it's washing finally my financial statements to zero.

MR. AIKEN:  So for future tax returns you will have the 85,000 or some portion of that 1.28 million showing up for a number of years going forward?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So it will show up, but in the same time when I'm closing my fiscal year I will calculate the same amount in my revenue, and it will be on my accounting net income, will bump up my accounting net income with that amount.

MR. AIKEN:  And that amount will be the CCA --


MS. DOMOKOS:  I would say --


MR. AIKEN:  -- on that particular year on whatever the declining balance is every year going forward?

MS. DOMOKOS:  It may be close.  I didn't do the exercise to see, because you have the useful life in accounting and you calculate the contribute capital depreciation based on the useful life or -- of the fixed assets that belongs to that contribute capital, and you have the CCA percentage that are prescriptive, so I didn't do that exercise.  If it is any difference, that will be minimal.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, can I turn to Table 2 in the responses you provided to my questions.  And this shows the breakdown of the 2015 net income for tax purposes between the PILS model from the settlement proposal, which ends with a loss of 318,000, you see in the middle of the page there, and then the bottom table you've made the adjustments to match to your actual PILS.

First of all, am I correct that the 907,000 is in addition to the $318,000 loss, so that your actual taxable income was about 589,000?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, so my actual income for tax proposed before losses was $589,098.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And so I'm going to summarize this, that on your bottom table here there are basically three changes, or three additions.  The first is the first four lines, the 39,988 through the 128,168, and that's the 216,365.  That's for things like the difference in actual versus deemed interest rate, or interest, and the provision for current and deferred income taxes, or PILS.

Then the second change is -- which we talked about before and I said we'd come back to -- the reserves at the end of the year, the 746,346 minus the 672,897, so that's about a $73,000 increase.

And the remainder is the $683 increase between the reserves at the end of the year and the reserves at the beginning of the year; is that correct?  This is all the regulatory accounts.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Sorry, the --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Regulatory accounts, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  -- 738,802 addition for opening regulatory assets balance, and the 54,946 showing as a deduction is a closing regulatory assets.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so then -- and I forgot to ask this before.  Back on Table 1, I was having some difficulty with some of the terminology in the item column.  The first line under "other additions" is "opening regulatory assets balance", and then two lines down from that it says "capital asset additions included in regulatory balance".

So is the 399,000 included in the 738,000?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So the 399, it's -- if you are looking under "addition and deduction", and it's -- they belongs to the smart meters project, so they are washing out.

MR. AIKEN:  I understand that.  But is that 399,000 in the 738,000, or is it in addition to it?

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, it is a different --


MR. AIKEN:  It’s a different regulatory asset?

MS. DOMOKOS:  It is a difference because they are not – they belong to the smart meter project.

So, you know, for the beginning, the smart meters were in the regulatory accounts and they were moved after the fact to the fixed assets, and that created -- that amount that it's in and out.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and then my other question on the terminology again goes back to the first line under "Other additions”.  It says “opening regulatory asset balance", and then the first line under "Other deductions" says “regulatory assets opening balance”.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So that is supposed to be capital assets deduction before, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Now, one of the problems I had in following both tables 1 and 2 is that you didn't include a column that has the PILS line number on it.

Some of these numbers are different, but they are obviously additions of various lines.

Would you undertake to update tables 1 and 2 to add a column that shows the T2S1 line from the PILS model?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MR. AIKEN:  Because I'm sure it will be easier for the Board to follow.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO UPDATE TABLES 1 AND 2 TO ADD A COLUMN THAT SHOWS THE T2S1 LINE FROM THE PILS MODEL

MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to the test year, and I am again starting with the CCA calculations in schedule 8, the difference between the settlement proposal and the update.

Well, first of all, there is no difference in the additions; both are 1.51 million.  But because the opening balances in the update are substantially higher, the CCA goes from 1.46 million to 1.7 something -- 8, I think; is that correct?  That's what's driving that change?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then for the taxable income for the test year, the difference between the settlement and the update are again -- line 126 and 414, whereas before they were 6,500 now you now have the – well, I don’t know.  Are these actuals?  They can’t be actuals for the test year.

I suppose -- is it correct that line 414 is your actual?  This is the 752,846.  That's your actual at the beginning of 2016?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So I update the 2016 based on the reserve that I have on the end of 2015 actual.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, and then back on line 126, the 998,000 --


MS. DOMOKOS:  So it's coming from the reserve schedule, so the schedule for the reserve from 2015 was forwarded to 2016, which will change these amounts.

MR. AIKEN:  Have you filed that on the record someplace as part of this update?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I have been asked about 2015, so I didn't mention anything about 2016.

MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to file the reserve calculation that results in the 998,958?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I would like to tell you that the way that it is right now, 2016, it's following the same principle which doesn't allow this difference in the reserve to go for the tax calculation.  So I follow what it is in the real life.

In the regulatory model, you have differences in the reserve and they are taking this reserve in the calculation of the taxes.  But in real life, you don't -- any change in the reserve, they will not allow to go to the taxable income.

MR. AIKEN:  You see, that's where I'm getting confused, because this is the PILS work form and the 998,000 is being shown as an addition to income to calculate your $93,000 in PILS.

MS. DOMOKOS:  If you are looking on the line 126 and 414, that has changed, too.  So --


MR. AIKEN:  My point is as to what you agreed to in the settlement proposal, line 126 was an addition of $6,500, and line 414 was a reduction of $6,500.  So it had no impact on PILS.

Now it's a plus 999,000 and a reduction of 770 -- 753,000.  So there is an increase of more than $200,000 in your taxable income, and I'm trying to figure out what's driving that.

MS. DOMOKOS:  But if you are doing the summary again between the line 125 and 126, which it's the end of the year, and you compare with 413 with plus 414, the impact is zero.

So in the regulatory model, you have an impact on the changes in the reserve.   In the real life, you don't have that.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, let's explore that a little bit.  In your settlement proposal, line 125 is 746,000 and then you deduct off, in line 413, 1,010,000.

In your update, line 125 is the same 746,000, and line 413 is the same 1,010,000.  So don't tell me that the two of them added together offset one another, because they don't.  You’ve added more than $200,000 to your taxable income.

My question is:  What is the driver of that?  Have you filed any evidence to support that increase, because that's an extremely material increase in your taxable income?

MS. DOMOKOS:  What I did here was I followed exactly what is in the reserve at the end of 2015, but -- because you have to forward, right, what is in the reserve at the end of 2015 is the beginning of 2016 which will change, of course, the end of 2016.

So I have a choice.  I will put the beginning of 2016 different than the end of 2015, so it will not be moved forward, that amount.

MR. AIKEN:  What I'm asking for is the calculations that show how you came up with a $999,000 ending balance for 2016, because right now there is no evidence on the record of how that number was calculated.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I'm coming back.  If it is something on the end -- the reserve on the end of 2015, I cannot make the starting point different.  If I --


MR. AIKEN:  I'm not talking about the starting point; I'm talking about the ending point.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, but the ending point is affected by the starting point in 2016.

MR. AIKEN:  Then just show us the calculation.  If you don't want to file it, that's fine.

MS. DOMOKOS:  No, it's -- I can do it.  I don't have any problem to change the starting point being different than the ending point.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Do we have an undertaking in this discussion?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  All right, so that will be JT1.7. And did you want to clarify it, Mr. Aiken, just for the record?

MR. AIKEN:  To show the calculation of the $998,958 shown in line 126 of the updated taxable income for the test year.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO SHOW THE CALCULATION OF THE $998,958 SHOWN IN LINE 126 OF THE UPDATED TAXABLE INCOME FOR THE TEST YEAR.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  All right, thank you.

MR. AIKEN:  I'm going to move away from the numbers and ask more about the concept.  Do you agree here that we have basically two issues that we're dealing with in terms of PILS?  One is how the loss carry forward from past years should be calculated and carried forward into the test year, and the second is whether the Niagara West loss carry forward should be used for regulatory purposes.  It is those two issues; right?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  So based on those two issues, do you agree that there are four potential outcomes, essentially a two-by-two matrix?

MS. DOMOKOS:  There are -- sorry?

MR. AIKEN:  Do you agree that based on those two issues there are four potential outcomes of your PILS calculation?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Four?

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, four.

MR. CURTISS:  No, we're not going to agree to that, because we haven't seen those calculations --


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Well, let's --


MR. CURTISS:  Why would we agree to do that?

MR. AIKEN:  Niagara West is in or out for regulatory purposes, and the loss carry forwards are calculated on actuals or PILS.  There's two options for each of those two issues.

MR. CURTISS:  Okay, that's fine.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And your updated evidence, you provided a calculation of $93,000, and that's based on one of those potential outcomes, and that outcome is based on Niagara West being out for regulatory purposes and regulatory accounts being in for regulatory purposes; correct?

MS. DOMOKOS:  I believe the way that it is, what we like, what we believe, is -- it's supposed to be -- it is to use what is available on the end of 2015, the loss -- the actual loss carry forward.

MR. AIKEN:  And that includes regulatory accounts being included in your taxable income on an actual basis for 2015?  We just went through the regulatory assets being added, the 700-and-some-thousand, and then the 54,000 being subtracted off.

MS. DOMOKOS:  The whole application we have been asked to update with the actual 2015 figures, so in our view we are supposed to update with actual loss carry forward and for -- on the end of 2015 the calculation for the test -- for the test year 2016.

As long as we update it with all the information actual of 2015, I believe that will be the way that we supposed to go.

MR. AIKEN:  And that means regulatory assets are included in your taxable income for 2014 and '15?

MS. DOMOKOS:  If you are looking back when we starting the application, so 2014, you took what it is the loss carry forward actual of 2014, and you start to do the calculation for '15 and '16.  It was included in 2014 actual calculation regulatory accounts, the answer would be yes, so we believe if it was allowed to include the starting point, what was for 2014, the regulatory accounts, it is supposed to be the same way when the 2015 actual became available the same way.

MR. AIKEN:  My question is simpler than that.  Your proposal for $93,000 in PILS in the test year has Niagara West out for regulatory purposes.  That benefit is going to the shareholder.  And it has regulatory accounts in the calculation of your actuals, actual PILS, which you are proposing to use for 2015.

MS. DOMOKOS:  My point of view it is when we decided these are the loss carry forward at the end of 2014, we took, based on what was the actual calculation on the end of 2014, which included the regulatory accounts, so in a similarity we can do the same thing for 2015, yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so then I'm going to ask for an undertaking to do three different calculations, being the three other potential outcomes that are related to PILS. And these would apply to both 2015 and '16, so the complete PILS work form.

The first one is, Niagara West is out, as you currently are proposing, but the regulatory account are also out of the calculation for 2015 and '16.

The second one is that Niagara West is in for regulatory purposes, and the regulatory accounts are out, as you currently proposed.

And the third one is that Niagara West be in for regulatory purposes and the regulatory accounts be in.

It is a two-by-two matrix.  You have Niagara West, you have loss carry forwards, and you have in and out.  You provided $93,000 as one of those combinations.

We need to see that the combinations -- or the dollars for the other three combinations.  I think that's fairly straightforward.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we have that undertaking?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.8. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO DO THREE DIFFERENT CALCULATIONS, BEING THE THREE OTHER POTENTIAL OUTCOMES THAT ARE RELATED TO PILS for BOTH 2015 AND '16, THE COMPLETE PILS WORK FORM.

MR. AIKEN:  Then I'm moving on to OM&A just briefly, and specifically -- if I can find it here -- in the material you provided in response to my questions.  I guess it's Table 1 and 2 to my OM&A questions.  Or, sorry, Table 3, you show an increase in year-to-date May 2016, excluding Niagara West, I believe, of about 28 percent over the same period in 2015.

Have I got that right?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Then further down in Table 4 -- this is the full-time employees by department -- the actual number as of June 27th is 17.94, and that's down from the 19.48 shown for 2015; is that correct?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay, so my question is:  Can you break out the costs which are going up by 28 percent despite having lower FTEs?  So can you break out those costs into labour-related and non-labour-related?  Right now it's very confusing, because you've got this big increase, but we know salaries and wages and benefits are a big chunk of OM&A, and yet the number of FTEs is down.

MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  So we would have to take an undertaking to --


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.

MR. CURTISS:  -- break out that detail.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.9. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO BREAK OUT THE COSTS WHICH ARE GOING UP BY 28 PER CENT DESPITE HAVING LOWER FTES, LABOUR-RELATED AND NON-LABOUR-RELATED.

MR. AIKEN:  And those are all my questions.  Thanks.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

Would we be able to take a brief break at this point, and then we'll continue with the questions?  Okay.  So at eleven o'clock?  Come back at 11:00?  So 15 minutes?  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:43 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:02 a.m.


MS. DJURJEVIC:  Welcome back, everybody.  I believe Mr. Aiken has finished his questions, and we are ready to move on to the next questioner. 

MR. STOLL:  I drew the short straw, so -- mercifully, I'm not going to deal with PILS. 

I do have a couple of questions about what was included in the – what’s called KT1.3, and it was the table 3 OM&A expenses -- there we go -- and I just want to make sure I'm understanding what's in and what's not. 

The 2015 actual numbers, does that include three months of the transformer stations cost in them? 

MS. DOMOKOS:  That is correct.  They don't include. 

MR. STOLL:  Do not include? 

MS. DOMOKOS:  Do not include -- sorry.  So 2015 may -- so the column for year to date, May 2015, is -- 

MR. STOLL:  No, it's the column 2015 actuals in the middle. 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't know if your mic is on. 

MS. DOMOKOS:  The actual 2015, that would will be the whole year GPI. 

MR. STOLL:  GPI.  So it doesn't include the three months of NW from October or not. 

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes, it is including the three months only. 

MR. STOLL:  Including the three months, okay.  And the 2015 year to date -- 2015 for GPI is separated because the amalgamation happened September 30, October 1? 

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay, and I'm just trying to understand a couple of relationships.

Is there any sort of natural cycle or evolution to the operations or maintenance costs that would say anything other than like a proration for the five months to project out over a year timeframe is appropriate -- like billing and collections, I assume is a really flat cost.  

Let's start with that.  Is that fair to say?  Like the each-month cost for billing and collections would be roughly the same? 

MR. CURTISS:  Specifically the billing and collections?  That's fairly regular from month to month, yes. 

MR. STOLL:  Right, and I think that bears out in what I've looked at.  Is the same -- or what sort of difference would there be for either operations or maintenance types cost?  Like -- 

MR. CURTISS:  So both with GPI and NWTC expenses, from year to year there may be large swings and timing differences between expenses.

So for example, if we’re doing maintenance at the station and it happens to be a year in which there is 30-some-odd-thousand dollars' worth of maintenance, that means it could be done in April, it could be done in October, it could be done in any month in between.

So there will be no consistency from one month to the next, one year to the next, and that would also be true for GPI.  We may do tree trimming in January one year, and we may do it in October the next year, so there will be large differences.  And if you're looking at year to date for the time periods for 2015 and 2016 here, there will be reasons due to timing coming out of that of that analysis. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And if we could look at table 4, I think it's on the next page -- even up on the big screen, I can't read that.  All right.  

And I just want to make sure I'm reading this correctly, and in -- towards the upper right, the two -- the two that are identified under the line lined and the change, those are the two linemen that we've talked about previously. 

Is that correct?  It's the 2.0 under -- if you go down, it is under operations, reading across lines to the far right corner. 

MR. CURTISS:  What's your specific question? 

MR. STOLL:  Okay, yeah.  I just want to make sure we're in the right area.  So the 2.0, those are the two linemen that are proposed to be hired that are discussed in the evidence, is that correct? 

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct. 

MR. STOLL:  And has either of those linemen actually been hired?  Or where are you in the hiring process? 

MR. CURTISS:  We're currently recruiting for one and have not hired yet. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay. 

MR. CURTISS:  And we are leaving the recruiting for the others, because we have a number of positions open right now for later on in the year. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And I just want to -- the stores position, it was kind of a split position or a shared position before, and you were forecasting that that become a full-time position or a full-time person looking after stores; is that correct? 

MR. CURTISS:  Not exactly. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay. 

MR. CURTISS:  So you will notice here in prior years, we always had a single full-time storekeeper until -- I believe it was 2014 that we decided to try a part-time store person for roughly 24 hours a week.  

That hasn't worked out so well and we're proposing in this application to go back to a full-time employee in the stores position. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay, all right.  And have you -- have you made that change yet? 

MR. CURTISS:  Not yet.  We haven't started recruiting for that particular position. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  On the billing side, have you begun recruiting for that person either?  I see an increase of 1.2 full-time equivalence. 

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, so we -- first of all, the .2 comes from basically one fifth of one person, because we have some crossover at the director level. 

Number 2, we proposed a full -- another full-time customer accounts representative, which we have not begun recruiting for yet. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay. 

MR. CURTISS:  We have just begun the process for the director position. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And the director position, you said it's like a .2 or it’s a shared -- 

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, it's a backfill for an existing retirement. 

MR. STOLL:  And does the rest of the director position show up where?  Like in any -- does it -- 

MR. CURTISS:  Well, it's only in the rate application as .24 because there was only .24 of overlap.  It was normal analysed over the five-year term.  

It is basically a one-for-one, so after the retirement at the end of the year, that existing position person will obviously drop off, and the new person will continue.  So it is like a one-for-one. 

MR. STOLL:  It is like a succession overlap? 

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct. 

 MR. STOLL:   Okay.  Actually, I'm going to have to go back.  I have two quick clarification questions on the KPMG report.

One was -- and I assume this is just a typo, and it's on page 3 of the report, and under -- there's a paragraph underneath all the bullets that begins "as a result".

MR. CURTISS:  Mm-hmm.

MR. STOLL:  And it says:  "The conclusion is a reduction of $118."  But I think it should be 1,018, or there's a -- or there's a number from one of the preceding numbers that's incorrect, the 6 million number.

MR. PICARD: It should be 118.

MR. STOLL:  1,118?

MR. PICARD:  It is 118, not 1,000.  One of the numbers is wrong.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. PICARD:  It should be only $100 of difference.

MR. STOLL:  Oh, $100 difference, so is it the 6,000,273 or 6,000,272?  If you want to confirm which is correct with an undertaking that's fine with me.  I'm not overly concerned about the end result.  I just wanted to make sure that it was -- which one was correct so we can avoid confusion about talking about incorrect numbers.

MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  So we'll take an undertaking to confirm that value.

MR. STOLL:  Sure.

MR. CURTISS:  Either one of those values.

MR. STOLL:  Yeah.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO CONFIRM THE VALUES DISCUSSED.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  And the other question I had was, in the list of regulatory decisions that you reviewed it does not include the MAADS application that Grimsby and Niagara West went through to get the OEB's approval.

Did you review that decision or proceeding at all?

MR. PICARD:  I review all the decisions --


MR. STOLL:  Reviewed --


MR. PICARD:  -- issued, yes...  

[Microphone not activated]

MR. PICARD:  Sorry, I said I review all the decisions issued, yes.

MR. STOLL:  On this list or all the -- because the MAADS -- the MAADS --


MR. PICARD:  Did I forget to include one on the list?

MR. STOLL:  Yeah, I'm just wondering if that was...

MR. PICARD:  I can, if you want, re-confirm to you that I have read it or not read it.  But I believe I read it.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.

MR. CURTISS:  We'll take an undertaking to confirm that.

MR. STOLL:  Yeah, and that's -- if it's -- if you could specify in the undertaking whether it is just the decision or whether it's the evidence as well.

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO CONFIRM WHICH REGULATORY DECISIONS WERE READ AND TO SPECIFY WHETHER IT WAS JUST THE DECISION OR THE EVIDENCE AS WELL THAT WAS READ.

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  Those are my questions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Stoll.  And who is next?
Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Michael Janigan for VECC.  I'll go next.  And my questions will be of a very general nature on the KPMG report, Exhibit KT1.1, directed at Mr. Picard.

Now, Mr. Picard, I noticed that you have provide -- provided professional services to a wide range of utilities.  Have you actually filed evidence and testified as a witness in a proceeding before the Board before?

MR. PICARD:  No, sir.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And just looking at your resume, it seems that much of the assistance that you have rendered to the Board has been associated with the transition between GAAP to IFRS?

MR. PICARD:  That's one, and also pension and OPEB, which is currently taking place.

MR. JANIGAN:  Pension and OPEB.  Okay.  Now, have you been engaged by any utility to advise on any aspect of amalgamations or mergers?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And could you, without compromising any confidentiality, can you indicate what those assignments were?

MR. PICARD:  One of the assignment was when PowerStream merged with Barrie Hydro, and I'm also assisting currently with the merger of the four.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I believe you're going to confirm with Mr. Stoll concerning your review of the decision and order that gave rise to the amalgamation on this case.

MR. PICARD:  Uh-hmm.

MR. JANIGAN:  But to your recollection is there any mention of the tax loss carry forward in the context of that decision?

MR. PICARD:  Can you specify what you mean, what you have in mind?

MR. JANIGAN:  Well --


MR. PICARD:  Because we have tax losses almost every year, so that's why I'm trying to --


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the amount of the tax loss carry forward at the time of the amalgamation, which in your --


MR. PICARD:  This is in about 2015.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  In your submission belongs to the shareholder.  Is there any mention of that fact within the decision to your recollection?

MR. PICARD:  I don't think it's mentioned, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I believe in your conversation with Mr. Stoll you indicated -- did you read any of the materials or the representations made at that proceeding in relation to the decision that ultimately resulted?

MR. PICARD:  Representation made by...

MR. JANIGAN:  Made by either of the emerging parties or the opposing parties or -- on this subject?

MR. PICARD:  I would say I've read it, but I'm -- I probably read it, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Do you know if any submissions were made with respect to this point?

MR. PICARD:  I don't know.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can't help me.  Okay.

Now, in terms of your position on this matter, as I understand it -- and it's set out in your conclusion --


MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- that it's your belief that because the principle of benefits follows costs should be followed that the Niagara tax loss carry forward balance as of December the 31st, 2015 should be for the benefits of the shareholders, not the customers?

MR. PICARD:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in looking at your evidence, note that you've set out on page 5 some of the reasons why --


MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- this net accounting loss occurred in 2011.  My question is:  What would have been the case -- what would have been the result of any surplus that arose in the event that, instead of a loss, the NWTC actually over-earned?  Where would that over-earnings have gone?

MR. PICARD:  I believe to the shareholder.

MR. JANIGAN:  Pardon me?

MR. PICARD:  To the shareholder.

MR. JANIGAN:  To the shareholder.  Okay.  So the shareholder, in your submission, would -- the loss associated with it belongs to the shareholder and the over-earnings belong to the shareholder; is that what your submission is?

MR. PICARD:  No, I think the point here is that I believe the company never included PILS in their revenue requirement.

MR. JANIGAN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. PICARD:  Losses occur due to a number of reasons.  First of all, for the first six years of the company, from a corporation, until 2010, there was a rate of 1.50 that was allowed, the UTR rate, and that rate was understood by the Board as an interim rate.

The Board was even concerned that whether the company would make sufficient revenue to stay alive, and I think in 2011 they said, Okay, we'll allow you to have a rate that will not even recover fully what you are allowed to recover, but we're going to keep an eye on you, because we know that there are some issues with that rate.


So now some of the -- so first, PILS was never included.  For me, it is under issues with the deemed interest, which is substantially lower than the actual interest, and the actual interest are not included in the revenue requirement.

So that $100,000, over $100,000 that they have incurred over the past ten years, I believe this is also one way to look at the loss.  The loss is -- you could say that the loss is coming from that deemed interest.

MR. JANIGAN:  Was there any impediment?  You've indicated that you believe first of all that the shareholders decided to subsidize customers by accepting lower rate of return, and secondly, they failed to even earn that.

MR. PICARD:  Right.

MR. JANIGAN:  Was there any impediment to the shareholders requesting more initially that you are aware of?

MR. PICARD:  Requesting more?  You mean the...

MR. JANIGAN:  A higher rate.

MR. PICARD:   If you get the rate, to get them the maximum rate of return that they are allowed.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. PICARD:   194.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Was there any impediment to that, to them doing that in 2011?

MR. PICARD:   Impediment?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:   Sorry, I'm going to interrupt here for a minute.

I’m not sure that Mr. Picard is really in a position to answer that question.  Mr. Picard doesn't work for Grimsby; he wouldn't be in a position to have known NWTC's situation between 2011 and more currently until they were amalgamated into about GPI.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, but on page 5, he sort of draws the conclusion that it was the shareholder forecast that would subsidize the customers.  It seems to me that he is describing that --


MR. PICARD:   This is the decision that was returned by the Board, so I'm taking the word from the decision and order, so it sets out my words.

MR. JANIGAN:  Can I ask when you were retained by Grimsby in this case to provide the opinion that you’ve provided?

MR. PICARD:   When?  I don't recall the exact date, but it is about a week and a half ago, something like that.  I can find exactly -- if you want the exact date, I can find it.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  It’s in the last two months, in other words?

MR. PICARD:   The last two weeks.

MR. JANIGAN:  In the last two weeks you've been retained?

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Specifically, can you advise why this issue was not raised in the initial application?

MR. PICARD:   I cannot.  I don't know what the --


MR. JANIGAN:  But to the best of your knowledge, it was raised for the first time when you gave an opinion?

MR. PICARD:   Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And once again, you were not involved in any aspect of the amalgamation proceedings themselves?

MR. PICARD:   No.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I note that you quote the OPPB from the Great Lakes Power decision in 1.4.3 of your report, and you also cite the OPG decision of November 20th, 2014.

MR. PICARD:   Uh-hmm.

MR. JANIGAN:  Do you believe there is any conflict between those two decisions?

MR. PICARD:   There are different facts, because in the case of OPG, they were including the PILS.

MR. JANIGAN:  Uh-hmm.

MR. PICARD:   And so therefore, you know, the decision was therefore if you have included PILS, the taxes carried forward should belong to the ratepayers.  It is a different issue.

MR. JANIGAN:  You believe that is a key fact in this matter?

MR. PICARD:   Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And with respect to the transaction itself, you are aware that all of the assets of NW -- why do I always forget that acronym? -- NWTC has all the assets of -- NWTC became distribution assets of GPI.

MR. PICARD:  I think they became deemed to be assets, right.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in your position, the shareholders of GPI are in exactly the same position as NWTC when it comes to the tax loss carry forward after the transaction has taken place?

MR. PICARD:   Can you specify what you --


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, before the transaction takes place, your opinion is that NWTC is the beneficiary of any tax loss carry forward.

MR. PICARD:   Correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  And your belief is after the transaction --


MR. PICARD:  I think that’s right.

MR. JANNIGAN:  -- the shareholders of GPI are now in the same shoes as NWTC?

MR. PICARD:   That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I think those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Mr. Rubenstein, do you have anything?
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just a few questions. 

I wanted to just follow-up on a question that Mr. Janigan just asked about when you were retained and why this wasn't raised earlier.

So I recognize that, Mr. Picard, you were retained when you --


MS. DJURJEVIC:  Mr. Rubenstein, can you speak up a little?  You’re starting to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  I'm getting old. Okay, thank you.

I wanted to follow up on a question that Mr. Janigan asked about why this was not raised earlier.  But my question is to Grimsby with respect to that.

Grimsby filed its application at the end of 2015, as I understand it.  Can you help us understand why this evidence and this position was not raised until the evidence was filed on the record last week?

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  Basically, this issue comes about from a disagreement between the parties on how to apply the PILS model in this situation.  We reached out to KPMG to get an opinion on what their opinion was on it, and we've moved forward on there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You can help me?  I do not understand how the issue with respect to the inclusion or exclusion of the NWTC assets, how that happened.

MR. CURTISS:  That was discovered during the process of KPMG's engagement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the issue was when you had a discussion on general issues -- I don't want to get into confidentiality from the settlement process -- it was at that point that they raised this issue with you, that you should or should not have included the Niagara West Transmission Corp's assets in your loss carry forward calculation.  Is that -- do I understand that?

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, that was their opinion.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then determined that you would amend your application and file evidence with respect to that issue at that time?

MR. CURTISS:  That’s correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the only thing that has changed is in your discussions with KPMG, they raised it.  Nothing else has actually changed with respect to this issue, in your mind?  There’s no new facts that have arisen, there is no new accounting issues that you would have had to undertake in the regular course that would have brought this.

It was just the discussions that you had with KPMG in the context of this application?

MR. CURTISS:  With respect to KPMG's issue number 2, that's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Mr. Picard, if I could take you to page number 5 of your report?

I just want to be clear, because you were discussing with Mr. Janigan that one of the reasons you believed the NWTC should not be included for the purpose of the loss carry forward^ calculation is that there was no PILS built into it, into their rate.  Do I understand that correctly?

MR. PICARD:   Well, there’s various reasons.  From 2005 to 2010, the rate was not set to be just and reasonable.  It was an interim rate until they could file the cost of service application and, during that time, there was also no PILS included. 

So, that loss, I would say from 2005 to 2010, I believe it's one reason.  It was not a just and reasonable rate that was set.

From 2011 to 2015, again, there's no PILS, so that's reason number 1.  Reason number 2 is the losses is caused by the excess and actual interest over the deemed cost -- the deemed interest, sorry, as it related to the deemed structure.

The interest is over $100,000 extra excess every year, and the loss is always under $100,000 a year.

So, one could also say, well, it's a cost that has incurred that has nothing to do with the ratepayers.  They are not paying for the actual interest, so therefore should get the benefit.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My only question is that one of the reasons at least is that there was no PILS built into the --^


MR. PICARD:   That’s one of the reasons, that there is no PILS; that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to clarify when you mean there was no PILS built in --


MR. PICARD:   In the rate application in 2011, they didn't include a written requirement for PILS.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question is just to clarify what do you mean by that.

Is it my understanding that the rate would have generated an amount for PILS, but previous loss carry forwards that were applied eliminated that PILS, so there is no PILS?

MR. PICARD:   That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But without those loss carry forwards that were being brought forward, there would be a PILS included?

MR. PICARD:   That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you know what that amount would have been?

MR. PICARD:   For which?  For 2011?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. PICARD:   Well, I don't know.  What would have been the --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We can do this by way of --


MR. PICARD:  We can -- we can if we have to --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- undertaking --


MR. PICARD:  Sure.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, so that will be Undertaking JT1.12. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO ADVISE PILS ARE INCLUDED IN THE AMOUNT OF LOSS CARRY FORWARD 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My other question is with respect to the scope that you looked at.

MR. PICARD:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is on page 2.  You provide a list of all the documents, and you had with Mr. Stoll a discussion about, maybe there were some that were not included.

MR. PICARD:  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like you to -- and we can -- I don't actually want to you to file every one of those documents, because there would be a lot of documents, but can you specify for us and file those, or at least link to them, so that we can deem them on the record in this proceeding, the information that you actually looked at that you took into account when you -- in preparing your opinion in this report?

MR. PICARD:  Sure, I can do that, yeah, sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I raise this for your counsel.  You don't actually have to file every single one of these documents.  We could just link them and just deem them on the record in this proceeding as a simpler way to do that.

MR. PICARD:  So you want to see which pages that I have read more specifically that is relating to my opinion.  Is that what...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would normally ask, all that -- you know, what are all the information and the actual documents to put on this record that you looked at.  I recognize that that would just be lots of pages and would be a lot of -- an unnecessary amount of paper, so I -- and this is more for your counsel -- I would recommend one of the ways we could do that is simply in an undertaking link to it, and we could -- with a hyperlink, and we could deem the link as that information being on the record in this proceeding, or you can file every single document that I've -- I just -- I thought for ease that would not be the best use of resources.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So just so I'm clear, because it sounds like it was more of a suggestion for me, Mr. Rubenstein --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- you're going to be fine with an e-mail message that includes links to all of the items referred to under scope?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, with the understanding they are then deemed on the record in this proceeding.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm --


MR. PICARD:  I thought all those reports were available on the website.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, they are available, but Mr. Rubenstein, you are simply asking for links to those so we can have them on the record in this proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, right, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Just to put them --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They are on the record.  They are just not on the record in this proceeding.

MR. PICARD:  Oh, I see.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's the --


MR. PICARD:  Got you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- what I'm just trying to get on the record in this proceeding.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we have that undertaking.  It is JT1.13. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO LINK THE DOCUMENTS AND THUS DEEM THEM ON THE RECORD.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this would also include any of the documents that Mr. Stoll suggested you may have looked at.

MR. CURTISS:  Sure.  Yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have a couple questions with respect to some other issues, since the rest of the PILS issued were covered, and they were with respect to OM&A.

My understanding from the evidence in this proceeding is that certain OM&A costs with respect to employee costs, the way you have handled it is you have attempted to normalize them over the next five years, the rate cycle; do I understand that correctly?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I was wondering if you could provide to us a version of the OM&A charts that you provided in Table 3 to Mr. Aiken that shows what those costs would be on an un-normalized basis.

With respect to those costs that you've normalized, if you did not use that method and you actually included the costs in the year that you were incurring them, what would your test-year costs be?

MR. CURTISS:  Okay.  So just let me clarify.  So you want labour costs as they've been proposed in our application without the normalization.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  So you've proposed --


MR. CURTISS:  Yeah, we did.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to change the normal way of -- I would argue that you are doing that.  I just want to understand what the difference is.

MR. CURTISS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.14. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE THE LABOUR COSTS AS PROPOSED WITHOUT THE NORMALIZATION.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then my last question is with respect to Table Number 4 in the -- I think it's KT1.3.  This is the full-time equivalent table.

And I just want to understand, with respect to the 2011 to 2016 numbers, are those -- or should I say the 2010 through 2015, your actual numbers -- is that on a year-end basis or is that on an average?  At what point are you -- is that snapshot?  How have you made that calculation?

MR. CURTISS:  The best way I can answer that is they are year-end.  How we get fractions in terms of some of the positions is we actually use actual hours versus total in the year, okay?  So for our part-time staff, for example, we calculated those fractions, those decimal points, using actual hours for those years that we had actuals.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's on a year-end basis.

MR. CURTISS:  So it's on a year-end basis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And let me -- and just a follow-up to a question that you were asked with respect to recruiting.  Can you help me get a sense of -- and you may want to take this away by way of undertaking -- usually from the point in time that you first advertise the position until they begin working, how long does that take?

MR. CURTISS:  Minimum three months.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What is -- on average?

MR. CURTISS:  I can't answer what the average is.  We don't track that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Those are my questions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Now I believe we are over to Board Staff, some questions.
Examination by Mr. Sabharwal:

MS. SABHARWAL:  My first question is, for Grimsby, did you calculate the material -- or did you calculate the difference between what the PILS proxy would have been in rates if you included the losses related to NWTC?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Would you please repeat that question?  So I'm trying to get the sense of the question.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay, for the test year --


MS. DOMOKOS:  For the test year.

MS. SABHARWAL:  For the test year, and what would be the difference if you included the NWTC-related losses in calculation of PILS proxy?

MR. CURTISS:  Would this be very similar to the Energy Probe question of the four different versions of this calculation?

MS. SABHARWAL:  I just want to separate this one portion out.  If everything else remains the same and we are only talking losses from NWTC, I just want to know what the impact would be on PILS.


MS. DOMOKOS:  In our original application I will say the losses are included for NWTC in our original application, so you --


MS. SABHARWAL:  So that was around $60,000.  And now it's 92,000 or something like that.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So you are talking about --


MS. SABHARWAL:  The PILS number in your revenue requirement.

MS. DOMOKOS:  I have to check what it was in the original.  In front of me I have only the last version I said.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.

MS. DOMOKOS:  But in the original application they were included all the tax losses from NWTC.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we need an undertaking for this?  Okay.  That will be JT1.15.   Do we need to restate the question for the record?

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yes, the impact of taxes -- impact on taxes of NWTC losses carried forward. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE THE IMPACT ON TAXES OF NWTC LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to repeat, that's JT1.15.

MS. SABHARWAL:  So my next question is on the Table 2, and -- versus the updated bridge year, adjusted taxable income.  I believe that's tab B1.  So the Table 2, I believe it's the same -- supposedly the same calculation should be, and this one is a -- so it's a loss of 318, Table 2, but for -- when you look at B1, it's a 589,000 income and I think it is mainly related to the opening -- the regulatory asset balances, the provision of income taxes current and deferred. 

The provision of income taxes current and deferred, I don't understand why you would put that in the calculation of net income for tax purposes.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Could you please repeat the question?  I didn't get the question.

MS. SABHARWAL:  So if you look at your bridge year adjusted taxable income in your tab B1, updated taxable income for the bridge year, and you have included provision for income taxes current and deferred in the additions.  But if you are trying to calculate net income for tax purposes, why would you -- I just don't understand why those two numbers are there.

MS. DOMOKOS:  So --


MS. SABHARWAL:  It's not in the PILS model.  You put it in there.  It's not on --


MS. DOMOKOS:  So they are – okay, if you go -- yes, yes.  If you go down on this one, you can see the 48 and it's the current and the future tax provision.  So these are the two that you see in the T1.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay, let's look at B1, the PILS model B1, and the --


MS. McOUAT:   The one you submitted.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yeah, that's the one.

So when you are adjusting your income before PILS, once you adjusted for taxes, you're coming -- you want to put in the additions to come up with net income for tax purposes.  I just don't understand.

 MS. DOMOKOS:  So the gross is 412,213, so if you take the current tax and the future tax, you will get the net of 235,836.

MS. SABHARWAL:  But that's not in the -- that's not --


MS. DOMOKOS:  So you have to put back to do the -- it's like an addition, right?

MS. SABHARWAL:  Why?  You want too calculate what the income would be for -- so net income for tax purposes, you add these future and current taxes to that to come to that?

MS. DOMOKOS:  Future and current taxes, yes.  So I am looking at the gross to calculate my taxes finally.

MS. SABHARWAL:  It's not in the PILS model that we --


MS. DOMOKOS:  Based on the table number 2, you can see its 412,000 is the gross, and you have to deduct this to get to the net, 235,000.

So it is the net income before taxes.

MR. PICARD:   It seems that the models start with net income after tax.  To get to taxable income, you have to do it before tax.  You start with net income plus tax to get to net income before tax.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay, it doesn't make sense, but it's not -- that's how high it is in the PILS model.

MR. PICARD:   You should start with the net income after tax or before tax?

MS. SABHARWAL:  You start with the income based on – the return on equity is basically what that number usually is, that starting number, but I digress.  I just want -- wanted to understand why it's there.

Because basically what you're doing here is you're a doing a T2 return.

MR. PICARD:   If you look at the line A, it's 235,826, agreed?  That number, it is written – it is written on the line before it's written income before PILS.  Unfortunately, that number is income after PILS, that's why she's adding up those two numbers below, no, on that schedule?

So, in fact if you want to correct it properly, if you want to do it properly, the 235 should be 412,000.

MS. DOMOKOS:  230.

MR. PICARD:   Which is the 235 plus the PILS and the deferred PILS along the bottom.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Yes.

MR. PICARD:   It’s just that she shows it net as opposed to gross.  So the income before tax should be 412.

If do you that and you eliminate PILS at the bottom, you get to the same result.

MS. SABHARWAL:  And you came up with 412 by just adding those two numbers?

MS. DOMOKOS:  So if you add to the 235,836 the two taxes, current tax and future, you get the 412,213.  So if you are looking under table number 2, you can see there how it's made --


MR. PICARD:   Net income.

MS. DOMOKOS:  If you go up -- oh, it's not here.  Sorry, it's number 1, I believe.

MR. PICARD:   This one.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Okay, if you are looking under the 2015 actual column, you can see how I arrived to 235,836.

MS. SABHARWAL:  You are calling both of them before taxes, accounting net income before taxes.

MR. CURTISS:  Sorry, could I ask you to speak in the microphone?  It is really difficult to hear you down here.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yes, I'm just saying that they are both on the table.  It says "Accounting net income before taxes", both the 412 number as well as 235 number.

MR. PICARD:   Right, so what she should have included is the 412 instead of the 235.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.

MR. PICARD:   When you that, you can eliminate the PILS at the bottom.  So you get to the same place.

In fact, I believe that PILS should have been amended.  If you want to include the 412 and eliminate the two numbers, you will get exactly the same result.  It will not affect the calculation.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay, that's fine.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  Just to clarify, does this document need to be revised, and can we have an undertaking to do that?

MS. SABHARWAL:  It is just a little confusing because it is calling both those numbers the same, and the PILS model doesn't usually show additions as taxes.  It just doesn't.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yeah, we can update this.

MS. DJURJEVIC:  We'll make it undertaking JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO UPDATE THE CALCULATION.

MS. SABHARWAL:  My next question is about an interrogatory that was asked in the MAADs application, and that question is for Grimsby.

In the MAADs application, an interrogatory was asked.  It was interrogatory NPEI number 2K, and they specifically asked if GPI will receive the tax benefits such as NWTC's non-capital losses from the transaction, and if so, to specify the benefits including the amount and how such benefits will be allocated to customers. 

And the response was that all of it will go to the benefit of the GPI customers.

MR. CURTISS:  Is there a question in there?

MS. SABHARWAL:  My question is:  Are you aware that you agreed to do that?

MR. CURTISS:  Absolutely.  That is on record.  That was based on the best information we had at the time that we filed our MAAD an application based on all the advice that we received in order to support our MAAD.

And obviously we are in a different place right now based on new information that's come to us in this proceeding.

The other point I'd like to make is that the focus of the MAAD application is not rates.  We specifically stated in a number of places in our MAAD application that rates would be the subject of this proceeding and be --


MS. SABHARWAL:  But you also said that it will be part of the next cost-of-service application that you would be using these losses.  Next -- GPI's application, the Board for --


MR. CURTISS:  As I said, that was based on the best information we had at the time, and now we have new information.  That's changed our position.

MS. SABHARWAL:  And new information being that -- what the KPMG report says or something different?

MR. CURTISS:  That's correct.

MS. SABHARWAL:  But can I still request a PILS model incorporating non-capital losses into GPI's PILS calculation, please?  It may be exact same what I asked before.  If it's exact same that's fine.

MS. DOMOKOS:  Sorry, would you please repeat what you would like to get?

MS. SABHARWAL:  The PILS model incorporating non-capital losses into GPI's PILS calculation.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And to the extent that that is repetitive of JT1.15, then the response, I guess, would be that is addressed in JT1.15.

MS. SABHARWAL:  If it's exact same, that's fine.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think that will probably be your answer, but I think just to save the undertaking I think that's the answer now, that in JT1.15 you wanted an update to the model.  I believe that you wanted an update to the model to include NWTC losses.  The answer -- the undertaking was given, but the answer on that was that the original application did include NWTC losses.

I'm just -- I'm just hoping we can avoid duplicating an undertaking right from the start.

MS. SABHARWAL:  As long as you are going to do one, because if you are going to refer me back to the original evidence, maybe some things have changed since.  You filed several things after, and I just want to make sure there is an updated PILS model.

MR. AIKEN:  Maybe I can jump in here.  It's Randy Aiken.  I think it's covered under the three scenarios I asked for.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.  All right, that's good then.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Maybe the easiest way to deal with this is we'll provide you the answer once, because that's really all that's needed.  If that's covered in Mr. Aiken's -- in the undertaking that Mr. Aiken requested, which I think it is, we'll refer you to that response.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that it?

MS. SABHARWAL:  -- yeah, that's it.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, any clarifications, Mr. Sidlofsky, or anything your witnesses want to add to further clarify -- and Mr. Rubenstein has something.  Oh, all right, Mr. Rubenstein.
Continued Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just going to ask a follow-up before we finish.  There was a Staff reference to an interrogatory response in the MAAD application that you responded to.  I'm wondering if we could have that interrogatory response, if that could be filed on the record.

MR. CURTISS:  Are we taking that as an undertaking to file that on the record, as an undertaking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. CURTISS:  Sure, okay.  That's fine.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So you do want to make that as an undertaking or just...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  We --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Easier to track.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  JT1.17, so that is file the IR response in the MAADS application, which EB number I don't have handy, but I think we'll know.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO FILE THE IR RESPONSE IN THE MAADS APPLICATION.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, was there anything else, Mr. Sidlofsky or any of the intervenors?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Not from Grimsby, Ms. Djurdjevic.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, well -- and so just to clarify, the undertaking responses are due, according to PO No. 2, on July 8th, which is Friday.  So is that still doable?

Well, let's assume it is, unless it becomes apparent to the applicants.  If it is not doable, then I guess we'll need a request to, you know, revise the date.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that's what I was about to say.  There are 17 undertakings.  Not all of them require a huge amount of work, but some of them will require a significant amount of work, and Grimsby is certainly aware of the deadline -- of the Board's deadline, but we will advise if some additional time is needed.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Sidlofsky, thank you, everyone.  That concludes our technical conference.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.
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